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THEODORE JULIUS BROHM I


Theodore Julius Brohm, the first pastor of Holy Cross, was born September 12, 1808, in Oberwinkel, Saxony, Germany, the son of Pastor George F. Brohm and his wife, Johannah Magdalene nee’ Guenther.  When Theodore was but three years old, his mother died.  His father entered a second marriage some time later.  Unlike the proverbial stepmother, this second wife endeared herself to her step-children.  At the age of thirteen the lad entered  the Latin School at Altenburg, where he received excellent grades for academic work and deportment.  Before he graduated from this school in 1827, his father died (1825).  In 1827 he matriculated as student of theology  at the University of Leipzig.  At first he made no distinction between rationalistic and Bible-believing professors.  (The rationalists followed their own reason rather than making Scripture the sole source of saving knowledge.)

Later on, however, he sought out believing professors, and attended their classes only.  This was the direct result of his having joined a group of Christian students who would come together  regularly for prayer, the study of the Word and discussions of Christian doctrine.  These young theologians were made the butt of ridicule because of their piety.  They, however, remained steadfast in their faith and continued the friendship formed at the University.  In the same lodging house with young Brohm was a student by the name of John Frederick Buenger, a man who not only emigrated to America at the time of the Saxon emigration, but who later became pastor of Immanuel Church in St. Louis and the founder (in 1858) of Lutheran Hospital and later of the Lutheran Orphans’ Home.  Buenger wrote a biography of Brohm and characterizes him as a young  man of very quiet disposition, serious and consecrated.


When Brohm in 1832 made his theological examination before the consistory, an administrative board consisting of higher clergy, he passed with honors.  He now returned to Leipzig to continue private studies, paying particular attention to the writings of John Chemnitz and to the Hebrew and Greek Testaments.  In the course of time he learned to know Martin Stephan, pastor of St. John’s Church in Dresden, a man who was an outstanding Gospel preacher and one who, for various reasons attracted a large group of admirers from among the clergy and community.  In 1834, Brohm moved to Dresden.  On the advice of Stephan, he did not apply for a pastorate in the Lutheran State Church, most likely because Stephan was already at that time thinking of emigrating from Germany.  In time he became attached to Stephan, serving as his personal secretary. With some 665 other Saxons, Brohm left Europe late in 1838 to emigrate to America under the leadership of Martin Stephan.  He traveled on the Olbers, the ship that brought Stephan from Bremerhaven to New Orleans, then proceeded by river steamer to St. Louis, arriving there on February 19, 1839.


Late in April, 1839, Brohm moved with the greater part of the colonists to Perry County, Mo., where 4476 acres of land had been bought out of the common treasury of the immigrants.  In spite of much suffering and extreme poverty, and in spite of the fact that there was no shortage of pastors and theological candidates in the group, Brohm, Buenger and Ottomar Fuerbringer, the three young candidates, built with their own hands the log cabin that was to become the first Concordia College or Seminary.  When the other candidates left, he carried on alone almost alone as teacher in the Seminary.  In 1843 he received a call from Trinity Lutheran Church in New York City.  Before he accepted this call, he was married to a pastor’s widow who had come with the Saxons, the mother of three minor children, Mrs. Johannah Wurmb, nee Zahn.  He felt rather isolated in the East, being so far removed from all of the rest of the immigrants.  His good friend, however, was C. F. D. Wyneken, who in 1850 became president of Synod.  After serving Trinity Church faithfully for fifteen years, he received and accepted a call extended by the founders of Holy Cross Church, St. Louis, and was installed as pastor on November 28, 1858, in the chapel of Concordia Seminary, St. Louis.  It has been reliably reported that Pastor Brohm’s letter in which he accepted the call to become pastor of Holy Cross was four months on the way, having been mis-sent to St. Louis, France.


Pastor Brohm was a faithful minister, known for his scholarship, remembered by older members of Holy Cross for his short sermons.  Before the log cabin college was opened in Perry County, he attended a public school in order to improve his English.  At Holy Cross he taught English in the parochial school.  He also gave lectures in Concordia Seminary in Old Testament Exegesis and edited a popular edition of the chief writings of Martin Luther, known as Luther’s Volksbibliothek (library for the laity – FAB).  During his pastorate the first unit of our church, the nave, was built and dedicated on December 8, 1867, at a cost of $30,066.78. (The church was completed when in 1889 the transept was added.)  When at the age of seventy his memory failed him, he tendered his resignation in 1878, after which he made his home with his son Theodore, who in 1879 accepted a call as professor at the Teacher’s Seminary (now Concordia University, River Forest, Illinois – FAB)  It was here that the first pastor of Holy Cross died on September 24, 1881, at the age of seventy-three years.  On Zion Cemetery near Addison his mortal remains await the resurrection morn.
